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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
SOUTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case: 2:23-cr-20431

Assigned To : Lawson, David M.
Referral Judge: Grand, David R.
Plaintiff, Assign. Date : 7/26/2023 2:25 PM
Description: INDI USA V. SEALED MATTER (DA)

V.

D-1 SAMER N. YOUSSEF, VIO: 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347, 1349
D-2 DAOUD A. FARAJ, M.D., and 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)
D-3 HOUDA BAZZI, 18 U.S.C. § 1957

Defendants.
/

INDICTMENT
THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

General Allegations

At all times relevant to this indictment, unless otherwise specified:
The Medicare Program

1. The Medicare program was a federal health care program providing
benefits to persons who were 65 years of age or older, or disabled. Medicare was
administered by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), a federal |
agency under the United States Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”). |
Individuals who received benefits under Medicare were referred to as Medicare -
“beneficiaries.”

2. Medicare was a “health care benefit program,” as defined by Title 18,

United States Code, Section 24(b).
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3. Medicare had four parts: hospital insurance (Part A), medical insurancel
(Part B), Medicare Advantage (Part C), and prescription drug benefits (Part D). |

4. This case involves Part D of the Medicare program, prescription drug
benefits. A pharmacy can participate in Medicare Part D by entering into a retail |
network agreement directly with a plan sponsor or with one or more Pharmacy
Benefit Managers (PBMs). A PBM acts on behalf of one or more Medicare drug 3
plans or sponsors. A pharmacy can join the plan’s network through a plan’s PBM. :
When a prescription for a Medicare Part D beneficiary is presented to a pharmacy,

the pharmacy submits a claim either directly to the plan or to a PBM that represents |

the beneficiary’s Medicare drug plan. The plan or PBM determines whether the

pharmacy is entitled to payment for each claim and pays the pharmacy for claims
submitted for Medicare beneficiaries. For PBM’s, the drug plan’s sponsor
reimburses the PBM for its payments to the pharmacy.

Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan and Blue Care Network

5. Blue Care Network (“BCN”) is a nonprofit corporation and health
maintenance organization, which is owned by Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan, '

that provides health insurance in Michigan. BCN was a “health care benefit |

programs” under United States law and as that term is used in 18 U.S.C. § 1347, and

as defined by Title 18, United States Code, Section 24(b).
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The Defendants
6. SAMER N. YOUSSEF (age 56) is a resident of Michigan and Florida

and is a licensed pharmacist in Michigan. YOUSSEF is the former owner of AMA
Pharmaceutical, LLC, which did business as Somerset Pharmacy, and the former
part owner of Somerset Pharmaceutical, LLC, which does business as Somerset
Pharmacy and previously did business as World Humanity Assist WS.

7. YOUSSEEF is the current owner of: (1) SMA Patient Care, LLC, which
did or does business as Somerset Specialty Pharmacy Rochester Hills, Spring Bio
Solution, and World Humanity Assist HS; (2) Somerset Specialty Pharmacy
Rochester Hills, LLC; and (3) Spring Bio Solution, LLC.

8. Dr. DAOUD A. FARAJ (age 52) is a resident of Michigan and is a
licensed medical doctor. At all relevant times he has practiced as a family medicine
doctor in Dearborn and Garden City, Michigan.

0. HOUDA BAZZI (age 34) is a resident of Michigan and Florida and is
a licensed pharmacy technician who has worked for YOUSSEF, including at
Somerset Pharmacy, Somerset Specialty Pharmacy, and Spring Bio Solution.

Specialty Medications and Orphan Drugs

10. “Specialty” medications are prescription drugs that, for example, treat

a less common health condition or have less common characteristics, such as

requiring special handling, special administration, or additional monitoring, and at °

times can be high-cost medications.
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11.  “Orphan drugs” are a type of “specialty”’ medication.

12.  An “orphan drug” is defined in the Orphan Drug Act as one intended to
treat, prevent or diagnose a “rare disease or condition,” which is one that “affects
less than 200,000 persons in the United States” or that affects more than 200,000 in
the United States and “there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing
and making available in the United States a drug for such disease or condition will

be recovered from sales in the United States of such drug.” 21 U.S.C. § 360bb(a)(2).

13.  Once approved by the Food and Drug Administration as an “orphan

drug,” pharmaceutical companies are given “Orphan Drug Exclusivity,” which
refers to a seven-year market exclusivity from competitors for that drug to help offset
the cost of creating the drug. This exclusivity can effectively extend a drug’s patent
protections, depending on when the drug receives orphan drug status to treat a
particular medical condition.

14. Coincidingly, orphan drugs are expensive for patients, and in turn,
health insurers, like Medicare and BCN. In 2020, orphan drugs had an average
annual cost of $32,000, and more than a third of drugs with orphan indications cost
more than $100,000 annually.

15. Typical retail pharmacies rarely have the equipment or the resources to
handle specialty medications or orphan drugs, and therefore these drugs are typically

dispensed by specialty pharmacies and shipped via the mail or courier service.
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16. Also, many manufacturers of specialty medications and orphan drugs!
choose just one or two specialty pharmacies to exclusively dispense a specialty
medication or orphan drug for several reasons, including the limited patient:
population and to ensure quality control.

17.  Asdescribed more fully below, the defendants SAMER N. YOUSSEF,
HOUDA BAZZI, and DAOUD A. FARAJ, together with others both known and
unknown to the grand jury, knowing and intentionally conspired to defraud, and did |
defraud, Medicare and BCN by submitting, and causing to be submitted, claims for
payments for prescription drugs, including specialty and orphan drugs, that were |

medically unnecessary.

COUNT 1
(18 U.S.C. § 1349 — Conspiracy to Commit Health Care Fraud)

D-1 SAMER N. YOUSSEF
D-2 DAOUD A. FARAJ, M.D.
D-3 HOUDA BAZZI
18. The General Allegations are included in this Count.
19. From in or around July 2016, and continuing through in or around -
December 2021, the exact dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Eastern
District of Michigan and elsewhere, the defendants SAMER N. YOUSSEF,
DAOUD A. FARAJ, and HOUDA BAZZI, did willfully, that is, with the specific

intent to further the object of the conspiracy, and knowingly combine, conspire, :

confederate and agree with each other and with others both known and unknown to

5
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the Grand Jury, to violate Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347, that is, to
execute a scheme and artifice to defraud a health care benefit program affecting
commerce, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 24(b), and to obtain,
by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises,
money and property owned by, and under the custody and control of, said health
care benefit program, in connection with the delivery of and payment for health care
benefits, items, and services, namely, prescription medications.

Purpose of the Conspiracy

20. It was the purpose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their co-
conspirators to unlawfully enrich themselves and others by acquiring prescription
medications through the submission, and causing the submission, of claims to
Medicare and BCN for prescription medications that were not medically necessary,
for Medicare and BCN to pay for the prescription medications, including, for
example, Firazyr, Trikafta, and Augabio, and for the defendants to sell those
prescription drugs at substantial profit.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

21. The manner and means by which the defendants and their co-
conspirators sought to accomplish the purposes of the conspiracy included, among

other things:
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The Scheme to Defraud

22.  SAMER YOUSSEF and HOUDA BAZZI, individually, together, and
through the corporate entities identified above, worked with others both known and
unknown to the grand jury to identify prescription specialty medications, orphan
drugs, and other prescription medications that could be sold to domestic or
international companies at a profit.

23. Research and development companies and companies performing
clinical trials were potential buyers of specialty medications and orphan drugs. These
companies purchased medications and orphan drugs for testing, studying, reverse
engineering, and, potentially, counterfeit purposes, especially when the drugs were
under Orphan Drug exclusivity.

24.  Upon identifying a specialty medication or orphan drug that they could
sell, SAMER YOUSSEF and HOUDA BAZZI worked with medical doctors in
Wayne and Oakland counties in Michigan, including but not limited to Dr. DAOUD
FARAJ, to write medically unnecessary prescriptions for the specialty medication

or orphan drug.

25.  Dr. DAOUD FARAJ and others wrote the medically unnecessary “
prescriptions in the names of “patients.” The “patients” in whose names the
prescriptions were written included (1) family and/or friends of SAMER YOUSSEF,

HOUDA BAZZI, and Dr. DAOUD FARAJ, (2) existing patients of Dr. DAOUD |

l
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FARAJ and other medical doctors, (3) and SAMER YOUSSEF and HOUDA |

BAZZI themselves.

26. Dr. DAOUD FARAJ and others typically wrote the medically

unnecessary prescriptions without the “patients’” knowledge or understanding of the

scheme.

27. SAMER YOUSSEF, Dr. DAOUD FARAJ, HOUDA BAZZI, and

others then worked to complete the necessary paperwork and send the medically .
unnecessary prescriptions to a specialty pharmacy that filled the prescription for the -

specialty medication or orphan drug, and billed Medicare or BCN to dispense the ‘

specialty medication or orphan drug.

28.  As such, in executing this scheme, SAMER YOUSSEF, Dr. DAOUD ?
FARAJ, HOUDA BAZZI1, and others submitted or caused the submission of claims -1

to Medicare and BCN for prescription medications that were not medically

necessary.

29. In addition to the prescription, the specialty pharmacy required
paperwork and other documentation to fill the prescription, documentation that |
included the patient’s name and purported address, purported telephone number, -
insurance information, and other purported contact information, as well as the

prescribing physicians’ name, address, telephone number, and other contact '

information.
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30. Inthat documentation submitted to the specialty pharmacy, at times and |
as necessary, SAMER YOUSSEF, Dr. DAOUD FARAJ, HOUDA BAZZI, and
others conspired to include a purported patient address that caused the specialty
pharmacy to send the specialty medication or orphan drug to an address controlled |
by SAMER YOUSSEF, HOUDA BAZZI, or Dr. DAOUD FARAJ, rather than to
the patient’s actual address.

31.  Alsoin the documentation submitted to the specialty pharmacy, at times
and as necessary, SAMER YOUSSEF, Dr. DAOUD FARAJ, HOUDA BAZZI, and

others conspired to include a purported telephone number or other contact

information that caused the specialty pharmacy to communicate with SAMER

YOUSSEF, HOUDA BAZZI, or others about the prescription, and not communicate .

with the patient in whose name the prescription was written.

32. When the patient receiving the medically unnecessary prescription was
a close family member, SAMER YOUSSEF and HOUDA BAZZI included the

patient’s correct home address, because they could access those locations, and only

listed alternate telephone numbers for the patients.

33. Rather than including their personal telephone numbers on the :
paperwork submitted to the specialty pharmacies, at times SAMER YOUSSEF or
HOUDA BAZZI used web-based applications through which they acquired several

alternative or “burner” telephone numbers that they included on the medical |
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documentation submitted to the specialty pharmacy and then used to make and

receive phone calls with a specialty pharmacy.

34. Also, as part of the scheme, and at times, SAMER YOUSSEF and
HOUDA BAZZI required that the specialty pharmacy dispense the specialty
medication or orphan drug with certain specifications, such as, for example, a
specific number of dosage units, sealed manufacturer bottles (rather than typical
medication bottles), and multiple bottles with the same lot number.

35.  SAMER YOUSSEF and HOUDA BAZZI required these specifications
to meet their customers’ demands and conceal that they had acquired the medication
through a medically unnecessary prescription, rather than some other source.

36. Accordingly, SAMER YOUSSEF and HOUDA BAZZI worked with
Dr. DAOUD FARAIJ and others to include special requests along with the
prescription, such as that the specialty pharmacy dispense the medication in sealed

manufacturer bottles or provide multiple months’ supply of medication.

37. Similarly, and to comply with the specifications, at times SAMER
YOUSSEF or HOUDA BAZZI, using either their own telephone numbers or the

alternative “burner” numbers, called specialty pharmacies as the patient, on behalf |

of the patient, or posing as a family member of the patient, claiming to have lost
already-dispensed medication and needing additional medication, or falsely

claiming to be traveling and in need of multiple months of medication at one time.
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38. In so doing, the defendants and their co-conspirators devised and.
executed a scheme to defraud Medicare and BCN by causing the submission of
claims for prescription medications that were not needed and, in many cases, never
delivered to the patient in whose name the prescription was issued.

39.  When the specialty medications and orphan drugs arrived at addresses
associated with SAMER YOUSSEF and HOUDA BAZZI, they arranged to ship the
medications to their customers, who were domestic and international companies.

40. Financial records revealed that the business entities described above |
owned by or associated with SAMER YOUSSEF and HOUDA BAZZI received
millions of dollars from domestic and international companies.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349.

COUNTS 2-16
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 & 2 - Health Care Fraud and Aiding and Abetting)

D-1 SAMER N. YOUSSEF
D-2 DAOUD A.FARAJ
D-3 HOUDA BAZZI

4]1. The General Allegations and allegations set forth in Count 1 are
included in these Counts.

42. On or about the dates set forth below, in the Eastern District of |
Michigan, SAMER N. YOUSSEF, HOUDA BAZZI, and DAOUD A. FARAJ,

knowingly and willfully executed and attempted to execute the above-described

scheme and artifice to defraud and obtain, by means of materially false and

11
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fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, money and property owned by

and under the custody and control of Medicare and BCN, health care benefit

programs as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 24(b), in connection

with the delivery of and payment for health care benefits, items, and services,

namely, prescription medications.

Count | Patient | Insurance Date. of Prescriber Drug Amo.unt
Service Paid

2 M.A. | Medicare | 8/4/18 Dr. Faraj Firazyr | $54,844.59
3 M.A. | Medicare | 8/21/18 | Dr. Faraj | Kalydeco |$23,059.77
4 M.C. | Medicare | 10/05/18 | Dr. Faraj Korlym |$13,643.82
5 A.A. | Medicare | 12/28/18 | Dr. Faraj Firazyr | $170,459.23
6 A.A. | Medicare | 4/19/19 | Dr. Faraj Letairis | $10,068.18
7 AF. | Medicare | 4/22/19 | Dr. Faraj Uptravi | $18,723.29
8 M.A. | Medicare | 6/11/19 | Dr. Faraj | Kalydeco |$25,568.86
9 M.A. | Medicare | 11/6/19 | Dr. Faraj Firazyr |$178,917.32
10 M.A. | Medicare | 2/20/20 | Dr. Faraj Trikafta | $25,568.86
11 H.B. BCN 3/31/20 | Dr. Faraj Trikafta | $15,406.81
12 S.Y. BCN 4/20/20 | Dr. Faraj Aubagio | $4,089.27
13 H.B. BCN 4/21/20 | Dr. Faraj Aubagio |$7,435.03
14 A.B. | Medicare | 7/15/20 | Dr. Faraj Xyrem | $16,464.79
15 A.A. | Medicare | 7/24/20 | Dr. Faraj Firazyr |$172,964.98
16 M.A. | Medicare | 12/14/20 | Dr. Faraj Trikafta | $25,568.86

12
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All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. \ i

COUNT 17-20
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1957 — Money Laundering)

43. On or about the dates set forth below for each count, in the Eastemif
District of Michigan, defendant SAMER YOUSSEF did knowingly engage in:
monetary transactions in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, w
and which in fact was derived from specified unlawful activity, namely, health care :

( fraud:

Somerset Specialty

17 4/20/18 $15,145 Sun Motors Cars

Pharmacy
18 1/14/20 $18.500 Somerset Specialty City Edge
Pharmacy Developments
Somerset Specialty M1 Concourse,
19 4/3/20 $78,333.33 Pharmacy LLC

Somerset Specialty Escrow & Title

20 4/14/20 | $395,558.41 .
Pharmacy Services

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957.

COUNT 21-28
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)- Money Laundering)

44.  On or about the dates set forth herein for each count, in the Eastern
District of Michigan, defendant SAMER YOUSSEF, knowing that the property
involved in each listed financial transaction represented the proceeds of some form

of unlawful activity, that is, the conspiracy to commit health care fraud, a felony

|
Count Date Amount From To |
\
\
13 ‘
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under Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1347 and 1349, conducted financial 1
transactions which in fact involved the proceeds of such specified unlawful activity, |
with the intent to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership and

control of the proceeds of the said unlawful activity:

Count | Date Amount From To
S&H Youssef
21 1/2/2018 | $1,000,000 Samer Youssef Investment, LLC
S&H Youssef S&H Youssef
22 12/26/19 | $750,000 Management, LLC Investment, LLC
Somerset Specialty S&H Youssef
23 12/26/20 | $400,000 Pharmacy Management, LLC
Somerset Specialty S&H Youssef
24 10/1721 | $500,000 Pharmacy Management, LLC
Home Equity Line of
25 7/19/22 | $200,000 Credit (357 12™ Ave, Samer Youssef
Indian Rocks Beach, FL)
Home Equity Line of
26 12/14/22 | $150,000 Credit (357 12% Ave, Samer Youssef
Indian Rocks Beach, FL)
27 12/14/22 | $150,000 Samer Youssef SMA Patient Care
28 12/12/22 | $125,000 Samer Youssef SMA Patient Care

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS
18 U.S.C. § 982 and/or 18 U.S.C. § 981 with 28 U.S.C. § 2461

45.  The allegations contained in Count 1 through 25 of this Indictment are

re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein for the
14
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purpose of alleging forfeiture against defendants, SAMER YOUSSEF, DAOUD A.
FARAJ, M.D., and HOUDA BAZZI, pursuant to the provisions of Title 18, United
States Code, Sections 981(a)(1)(C), 982(a)(1) and (7), and Title 28, United States
Code, Section 2461(c).

46.  Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(7), upon
conviction of the offense set forth in Count 1 of this Indictment, in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 1349, the convicted defendant(s) shall forfeit to the United States any
property, real or personal, that constitutes or is derived, directly or indirectly, from
the gross proceeds traceable to the commission of the offense.

47.  Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title
28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), upon conviction of the offense set forth in
Count 2 through 16 of this Indictment, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 & 2, the
convicted defendant(s) shall forfeit to the United States any property, real or
personal, that constitutes or is derived, directly or indirectly, from the gross proceeds
traceable to the commission of the offense.

48. Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), upon
conviction of the offense set forth in Counts 17 through 21 of this Indictment, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1957, the convicted defendant shall forfeit to the United
States: (a) any property, real or personal, that constitutes or is derived, directly or

indirectly, from the gross proceeds traceable to the commission of the offense; and

15
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(b) any property used, or intended to be used, in any manner or part, to commit or to
facilitate the commission of such violation.

49. Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), upon
conviction of the offense set forth in Counts 21 through 25 of this Indictment, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i), the convicted defendant shall forfeit to the
United States: (a) any property, real or personal, that constitutes or is derived,
directly or indirectly, from the gross proceeds traceable to the commission of the
offense; and (b) any property used, or intended to be used, in any manner or part, to
commit or to facilitate the commission of such violation, including but not limited
to:

a. Real property located at 357 12% Avenue, Indian Rocks Beach, Florida
33785; and

b. Funds in Flagstar Bank Standard Business Checking Account No.
143158253, held in the name of SMA Patient Care, LLC.

50. Substitute Assets: If any of the property described above as being

subject to forfeiture, as a result of any act or omission of defendant(s):

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

o

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided
without difficulty,

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property

16
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pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title:

18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1).

51. Money Judgment: Upon conviction of one or more violations alleged !

in this Indictment, defendant(s) shall be ordered to pay the United States a sum of"

money equal to the total amount of proceeds defendant(s) obtained as a result of such

violation(s).

DAWN N. ISON
United States Attorney

s/ Regina R. McCullough
REGINA R. MCCULLOUGH
Chief, Health Care Fraud Unit

s/ Andrew J. Lievense

ANDREW J. LIEVENSE
Assistant United States Attorney

Date: July 26, 2023

THIS IS A TRUE BILL

s/ Grand Jury Foreperson
Grand Jury Foreperson

17
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